RECEIVED

Jun 30 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No. 2022-001557
Civil Action Case No. 2016-CP-42-01854

Chandelle Property Owners Association,Respondent,

v.

James Douglas Armstrong, Jane Armstrong, Warren Johnson, Rhonda Johnson, John K. Payne, Ruth G. Payne, and Jane Van Wieren as Trustee of the Greer R.G. Irrevocable Property Trust dated October 25, 2006, and also all other persons unknown, claiming any right, title, estate, interest in or lien upon the real estate described in the complaint herein, Defendants,

and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN IGNORING THE FACT THAT THE CCR's PROHIBITED THE PLAINTIFF FROM INCURRING DEBT IN EXCESS OF \$50,000.00 WITHOUT A VOTE OF THE ASSOCIATION AND THE FACT THAT THE CCR's ONLY ALLOWED THE ANNUAL ASSESSMENTS TO BE USED FOR SUBDIVISION MAINTENANCE?

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AWARDING BACK ASSESSMENTS AND MISAPPLY THE LAW THAT NEGATIVE RECIPROCAL EASEMENTS/COVENANTS ARE TO BE APPLIED RETROSPECTIVELY AND NOT RETROACTIVELY?

3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AWARDING BACK ASSESSMENTS CLAIMED IN A LEGAL DEBT COLLECTION CAUSE OF ACTION WHEN THE APPELLANTS HAD A RIGHT TO HAVE THEIR COMPULSORY LEGAL COUNTERCLAIMS TRIED FIRST?

4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AWARDING THE SUMS CLAIMED UNDER THE RESPONDENT'S DEBT COLLECTION ACTION IN THE HEARING FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON RESPONDENT'S REQUEST FOR EQUITABLE RELIEF ON THE IMPLIED NEGATIVE COVENANT CAUSE OF ACTION SINCE THE RESPONDENTS ARE REQUIRED TO EXHAUST THEIR LEGAL REMEDIES PRIOR TO RESORTING TO EQUITABLE REMEDIES?

5. DID THE COURT ERR IN AWARDING BACK ASSESSMENTS WHILE DISCOVERY WAS NOT COMPLETE ON THE ISSUE OF THAT DEBT BEING INCURRED BY THE BOARD IN POTENTIAL VIOLATION OF THE RECORDED BYLAWS?

6. DID THE COURT COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW IN AWARDING BACK ASSESSMENTS THAT WERE OSTENSIBLY ATTORNEY'S FEES GUISED AS "ASSESSMENTS" AND BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT CONSIDER THE REQUISITE REQUIREMENTS OF JACKSON V. SPEED.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was originally commenced on May 16, 2016. Plaintiff's first Complaint appeared to assert causes of action against the developer, ("CSC"), the transferee of the runway, Chandelle Runway, LLC ("CR"), and various individuals that appeared to be connected with the promotion (the "Promoters") of the Chandelle subdivision ("Chandelle"). An Amended Complaint was filed on June 2, 2016 which appeared to assert the same causes of action against the developer, CSC Developers, LLC ("CSC"), the transferee of the runway, Chandelle Runway, LLC ("CR"), and the Promoters of Chandelle, but added a ninth (9th) cause of action against those parties for "Negative Reciprocal Easement[s]". The Appellants filed Motions to Dismiss for, *inter alia*, Failure to State a Claim. An Order was issued dismissing the Appellants on April 24, 2017. Plaintiff then filed a Second Amended Complaint on July 19, 2017 seeking a declaratory judgment that the Appellants and others were subject to the CCR's on the equitable theory of reciprocal negative easements. The Plaintiff also brought a quiet title action against Appellants, realleged a cause of action for Reciprocal Negative Easements and again various causes of action against CSC, CR and the alleged promoters of Chandelle. CR and CSC filed for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy on April 23, 2018 which was eventually converted to a Chapter 7. The Bankruptcy Trustee conveyed the Runway and other Common Areas to the Association by Deed dated February 26, 2020 and recorded March 6, 2020 in the Spartanburg County Register of Deeds Office. The Plaintiff filed the orders on the motions for relief from the bankruptcy stays on July 15, 2020. On November 3, 2020, the Plaintiff filed a Third Amended Complaint which included a cause of action against Appellants for a Declaratory Judgment that Appellants were encumbered by the CCR's, the Runway License Agreements were void and certain paving

easements granted to Appellants were void as the easements were granted after the filing of a Lis Pendens. Plaintiff also filed a fourth cause of action that was legal in nature claiming the Appellants breached the covenants and claiming for “collection of assessments” as a result of the breach. (R. pp. 306-307). It is important to note that this collection action was filed almost two (2) years after the deposition of the Plaintiff’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness, Billy Israel. That deposition took place on January 25th, 2018. Plaintiff’s counsel refused to allow the deposition of Billy Israel to be taken again which necessitated the deposition of the new treasurer, Jeff Cooper prior to the hearing. Plaintiff also filed an equitable cause of action asking for the imposition of reciprocal negative easements. (R. pp. 303-304)

Appellants filed their Third Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint on November 24, 2020. The Answer asserted general denials, affirmative defenses of Laches, Statute of Frauds and Waiver, a Defense of Lack of Authority and Lack of Standing because all of the Board terms had expired in 2012 and Equitable Estoppel/Unclean Hands for, *inter alia*, failure to conduct votes to replace the Board and violation of the covenants. Appellants then averred counterclaims of Conversion for guising assessments as being for that purposes of maintenance while diverting money to its lawyers, a Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Bad Faith, Equitable Indemnity, Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations dealing with the Runway License Agreements, Fraud in guising assessments for common area maintenance and diverting funds to its lawyers, a Declaratory Judgment action for various issues, Self-Dealing, Negligence, Accounting and most importantly Breach of the CCR’s/Breach of Contract alleging the Board’s assessments violated the CCR’s and By-Laws in assessing fees to pay for debt incurred in violation of the By-Laws. (R. pp. 268-286).

This appeal arises out of a grant of Respondent’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment; particularly, the entry of a monetary judgment for “back assessments” in conjunction with the hearing on the imposition of reciprocal negative easements. There were two motions for summary judgment heard simultaneously; the Plaintiff’s Motion (Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed August 19, 2022) (R pp. 319-323) and the Plaintiff and Third Party Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment seeking to dismiss the Counterclaims and Third Party causes of action (Plaintiff and Third Party Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed July 29, 2022) (R. pp. 300-302). As all of the facts were pertinent to both motions, the court made no distinction as to which evidence applied solely to one motion or the other. At the beginning of the hearing, Appellants conceded that they would most likely be brought into the subdivision under the reciprocal negative easement theory (R. p. 1308, lines 21-24), but that there were genuine issues of material fact surrounding the back assessments as those assessments were the product of the Plaintiff’s violation of the By-Laws in incurring debt of greater than \$50,000.00 without the requisite vote of the members of the association (By-Laws § 8.2(i)) (R. p. 262) and in that Annual Assessments were supposed to be for the purposes of subdivision maintenance only (CCR’s §11.1(a)) (R. p. 240) (R. p. 1308, line 21 - p. 1309, line 22; R. p. 135, lines 7-13; R. p. 10, lines 14-25). The Order on appeal concerns the court’s ruling that regardless of the provisions of the By-Laws and CCR’s, the Appellants had to pay the assessments to satisfy the debt accumulated by the Plaintiff. All of the debt Plaintiff was seeking to recover was for the accumulated attorney’s fees that were being carried by the Plaintiff’s lawyers, McCabe, Trotter and Beverly, P.C.. There is evidence in the record that the law firm told the Board of Directors not to worry about those prohibitions in the By-Laws (R. p.1385, lines 10-18). The Motion was heard on September 13, 2022 and the Order on appeal was filed October 29, 2022 (the “Order”).

The court ordered the Appellants to pay the back assessments in the amount of \$145,250.00. The Appellants filed and served the Notice of Appeal on November 1, 2022.

FACTS

This case concerns the Chandelle Subdivision in Spartanburg County (“Chandelle”) which is a private aviation subdivision containing a private airstrip with many of the residents being active pilots housing their aircraft in privately owned hangars constructed on their lots along with their residences. From the inception of the subdivision, the residents had used and maintained the runway under license agreements with the developer, CSC Developers, LLC (“CSC”). The residents paid CSC fees to maintain and operate the runway. The case was originally filed in efforts to have the runway and other common areas conveyed to the Chandelle Property Owners Association and to impose the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (“CCR’s”) on lots that were not properly bound for one reason or another. The community By-Laws were also filed with the CCR’s and empowered the Board of Directors “[t]o borrow funds to pay for any expenditure or outlay required pursuant to the authority granted by the provisions of the Declaration and these By-Laws and to authorized the appropriate officers to execute instruments evidencing such indebtedness as the Board of Directors may deem necessary; ***provided, however, that the Board shall not borrow more than Fifty thousand and no/100 (\$50,000.00) Dollars or cause the Association to be indebted for more than \$50,000.00 at any one time without the approval of a majority of votes of both classes of membership.***” (By-Laws § 8.2(i)) (R. p. 262). The Board of Directors was issuing annual assessments to the members to pay debts in excess of the prohibitions of the By-Laws and in contravention of the purpose of Annual Assessments as set forth in the CCR’s. (emphasis added) (CCR’s § 11.1(a)) Appellants refused to pay any further assessments because of the lack of authority to incur the

debt and because annual assessments were to be for the purposes of the maintenance of the subdivision. The Board stopped maintaining any of the common areas or the runway in 2013. (R. p.1378, line 14-23). Prior to the institution of the action, Plaintiff called a meeting of the association wherein its attorney, Ryan McCabe, asked the lot owners to execute a document entitled “Consent Agreement and Ratification Addendum Chandelle Property Owners Association.” (R. pp. 1395-1402). The Appellants and a handful of other lot owners refused to sign the Consent Agreement as presented because of objectionable language such as; (1) “the Lot Owner(s) agree that this instrument shall bind the Subject Lot to the Declaration as explained herein, *irrespective of any decision by a court of competent jurisdiction* that the Declaration itself originally failed to bind the Subject Lot”; (2) “*the Lot Owner(s) ratify and approve of the past actions of the Board of Directors* and the Association as it relates to levying assessments and enforcing covenants in good faith reliance on the applicability of the covenants at issue and actions taken to establish certainty regarding the restrictions applicable to the Property within Chandelle, *including, without limitation, instituting lawsuits*; and (3) “the *Lot Owner(s) agree to be bound by the outcome of any suit by and between the Association and the Declarant, in both their corporate and individual capacities, and/or any binding settlement agreement entered into by the Association through its Board of Directors relating to a suit* with the Declarant and regarding the restrictions applicable to the Subject Lot to the Declaration in particular or the Association in general. Notwithstanding this provision, the Lot Owner(s) agree that this instrument shall bind the Subject Lot to the Declaration inasmuch it is voluntarily executed below. . . .” (emphasis added).

This case has been a constant struggle to even get the Plaintiff to produce proof of the very debt it was trying to collect. Appellants filed a motion to compel on August 18, 2021 which

was heard on October 1, 2021. The court issued instructions on drafting its order by e-mail on November 10th, 2021 with no order being issued until February 10, 2022. Appellants filed another motion to compel on February 10, 2022 complaining that the Plaintiff had not complied with the previous discovery order in that Plaintiff had not produced the invoices of its attorney's fees which were the only debts the Appellants were being sued over. The court issued another order on July 22, 2022 which required the Plaintiffs to produce the attorney's billing records, but that such records were to be produced such that the attorneys did not have to disclose detailed information about the billing, but that the attorneys had to produce a summary of such billings. Plaintiff turned over those records on August 3, 2022, just two months before the scheduled trial date and approximately a year after the original motion to compel was filed. The Third Party Defendants filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on July 26, 2022 and Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on August 19th, 2022. Jeff Cooper, the Plaintiff's Treasurer, was noticed for his deposition to be taken on August 23, 2022, but Plaintiff's counsel cancelled that deposition and would not produce that witness for a deposition until after the hearing on its August 19th Motion for Summary Judgment which was heard on September 13, 2022 (R. p. 8, lines 7-17). The Order under appeal ("Order") was filed on October 29, 2022. Jeff Cooper was produced for his Deposition on September 22, 2022 wherein it was discovered that the Plaintiff was still in debt to its attorneys for approximately \$166,000.00 all of which was claimed to be attributable to these particular Appellants. (R. p. 1386, lines 16-20). After the deposition of Jeff Cooper and prior to the issuance of the Order, Appellants filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of the accumulation of debt. The issuance of the Order and necessity to appeal made that motion moot.

By the end of 2017, the Board had accumulated debt in the form of attorney's fees in the amount of \$151,709.23. By the end of 2018, the Board had accumulated \$252,126.00 in debt in the form of attorney's fees. By the end of 2019, the Board had accumulated 331,682.80 in debt in the form of attorney's fees. By the end of 2020, the Board was still carrying 147,814.70 in debt in the form of attorney's fees. Being limited by the records produced, it appears that as of July 15, 2022 the Board was still carrying \$270,492.15 in debt in the form of attorney's fees.

The Motion for Summary Judgment for which the Order was granted, requested a determination that there was no genuine issue of material fact that Defendants were subject to the Restrictions and Covenants of the Chandelle Subdivision as originally filed an amended from time to time by the Declarant, CSC Developers, LLC ("CSC") and the Board of Directors that was originally appointed by CSC. (Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment) The Order found that the Appellants were bound by the CCR's since the inception of the Chandelle subdivision (a retroactive application of the CCR's) and entered judgment on the Appellants in a total sum of \$145,250.00.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, our appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499. Summary judgment is proper if, viewing the evidence and inferences to be drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Id.* at 505. Summary Judgment should be granted only if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact of the litigation. Rule 56, SCRPC. Summary judgment is not appropriate where

further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 376 S.C. 37, 656 S.E.2d 20 (2007) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 11); *Bargus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991); *Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n*, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct.App.2004). The Court of Appeals reviews a grant of summary judgment using the same “yardstick” as the trial court: it views the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and draws all reasonable inferences in her favor. *Abdelgheny v. Moody* 432 S.C. 346, 852 S.E.2d 225 (S.C.App. 2020).

Generally, only a mere scintilla of evidence is required to defeat a motion for summary judgment when the burden of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence. Rules Civ.Proc., Rule 56(c). *Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store* (S.C. App. 2009) 385 S.C. 520, 684 S.E.2d 769, *rehearing denied, certiorari granted, affirmed and remanded* 399 S.C. 303, 731 S.E.2d 864. In cases where the burden proof is a preponderance of the evidence, typically, all an appellant needs to show to the appellate court is that it presented at least a mere scintilla of evidence to the lower court to withstand the motion for summary judgment. *See e.g., Turner v. Milliman* 392 S.C. 116, 708 S.E.2d 766 (2011).

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery; nonetheless, the nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the party is not merely engaged in a fishing expedition. *Dawkins v. Fields* 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003), *rehearing denied*.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN THAT IT IGNORED THE FACT THAT THE BY-LAWS PROHIBITED THE PLAINTIFF FROM INCURRING DEBT IN EXCESS OF \$50,000.00 WITHOUT A VOTE OF THE ASSOCIATION AND THE CCR's ONLY ALLOWED THE ANNUAL ASSESSMENTS TO BE USED FOR SUBDIVISION MAINTENANCE.

It is clear and unmistakable that the Article 8.2(i) of By-Laws prohibited the Plaintiff from incurring debt in excess of \$50,000.00 without taking a vote of the members. (R. p. 262). It is further clear that the assessments charged to these Appellants alone (\$145,250.00) exceeded that limit. (R. p. 47). It was presented to the court that the Association President, Billy Israel, testified in his deposition that (1) the debt provision was exceeded; (2) the Board took no vote of the association; and (3) that the Board acted *ultra vires*. In his deposition, Billy Israel was asked, “[h]ave you applied or asked for a vote from the members of the association to accumulate more than \$50,000 in debt? He answered, “[n]o.” (R. p. 359, lines 22-25). He was then asked, “[a]nd you have accumulated more than \$50,000 in debt? He replied, “[y]es. (R. p. 359, lines 1-5). Billy Israel further testified that he was told by his lawyers (the very folks getting paid through the wrongful acts) not to be concerned about the provisions of the By-Laws. He testified,

“This -- this paragraph in the bylaws was a concern of ours, and the legal advice that we got was not to be concerned about it, that, you know, we're doing what we believe is the best thing to do. And, again, because of the adversaries that belong to the association, we have not shared all of this information about these legal fees with them, and -- and there's advice from my attorney that I can't discuss with you about that matter.” (R. p.1385, lines 10-18).

The Appellants argued this issue to the court in the hearing. (R. p. 1338, lines 6-22) The court simply ignored the well-established law that “Restrictive covenants are to be construed most strictly against the grantor and liberally in favor of the grantee; all doubts being resolved in favor of a free use of property and against restrictions.” *Sprouse v. Winston*, 212 S.C. 176, 46 S.E.2d

874 (1948). Most importantly, Appellants brought a counterclaim and third-party complaint for a breach of the CCR's which is a contract between the Appellants and the Plaintiff. It was clear from the deposition of Billy Israel that the Board incurred greater than \$50,00.00 in debt in violation of the By-Laws. (R. p. 1383, line 7 - p. 1384, line 2). The law is clear that the CCR's are contracts and that the terms are to be strictly construed and not enforced unless the obligations imposed are worded clearly and unambiguously. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the lower court found the CCR's ambiguous and had to interpret them, the CCR's would have to be construed in favor of the Appellants. "Restrictive covenants are to be construed most strictly against the grantor and liberally in favor of the grantee; all doubts being resolved in favor of a free use of property and against restrictions." *Sprouse v. Winston*, 212 S.C. 176, 46 S.E.2d 874 (1948).

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