**RECEIVED**

**Jun 29 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001557  
Common Pleas Case No. 2016-CP-42-01854

---

Chandelle Property Owners Association .....Respondent,

v.

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

First, Appellants' argument fails to take into account that the trial court's order found that the Subject Lots were subject to and bound by the Declaration for at least the entirety of Appellants' ownership based on three independent/alternate grounds, and not solely on the basis of reciprocal negative easements/unmistakable implication. (R. pp. 38-44, 47). Specifically, the trial court found that Appellants' properties were subject to and bound by the Declaration for at

least the entirety of Appellants' ownership based on the following three independent and alternate grounds: (1) the properties were expressly bound by the Declaration; (2) the properties were bound by the Declaration through reciprocal negative easements/unmistakable implication; and (3) the properties were bound by the Declaration through the exercise of the court's inherent equitable powers. (R. pp. 38-44, 47). Although Appellants have asserted an allegation of error as to the timing of when their properties would be bound by the Declaration under the theory of reciprocal negative easements, in their brief (and consequently in this appeal), Appellants have not raised any challenge to or asserted any error with the trial court's ruling as to grounds (1) and (3) above, and Appellants have not included any challenge pertaining to grounds (1) and (3) in their Statement of Issues on Appeal. "Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. See also, State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). "Under the two[-]issue rule, whe[n] a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co., 423 S.C. 432, 451, 814 S.E.2d 643, 653-54 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010)). "[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case." Id. at 451-52, 814 S.E.2d at 654 (quoting Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012)). Because Appellants did not appeal grounds (1) and (3) listed above, these grounds have become the law of the case - i.e., the trial court's holdings that the Subject Lots have been subject to and bound by the Declaration for at least the entirety of Appellants' ownership on the basis of the properties being expressly bound by the Declaration and additionally through the trial court's exercise of its inherent equitable powers have now

become the law of the case. See id. at 451-52, 814 S.E.2d at 654-55. Therefore, the trial court's finding that the Subject Lots have been subject to and bound by the Declaration for the entirety of their ownership should be affirmed based on the two-issue rule, and consequently it is unnecessary for this Court to address Appellants' argument concerning retroactive application of reciprocal negative easements.

Even if Appellants' argument concerning retroactive application of reciprocal negative easements is considered, such argument misconstrues the law concerning when reciprocal negative easements arise and such argument is consequently without merit. Appellants' argument seems to suggest that under the doctrine of reciprocal negative easements, the Subject Lots did not become bound by the Declaration until the date of the trial court's order declaring them bound on the basis of reciprocal negative easements/unmistakable implication, and thus any award of assessments levied prior to the trial court's order would consequently be a "retroactive" application of reciprocal negative easements.<sup>24</sup>

In support of their argument, Appellants rely on the case of Shipyard Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Mangiaracina, 307 S.C. 299, 414 S.E.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1992). However, Mangiaracina does not stand for the proposition that reciprocal negative easements only become effective as of the date of the court's order declaring their existence, and Mangiaracina is also readily distinguishable from the case at hand. In Mangiaracina, the property owners association sought a judicial declaration granting it authority to alter the assessment provisions in certain restrictive covenants from fixed rate assessments to variable rate assessments to equalize the assessments among all property owners in the Shipyard Plantation development. Id. at 304-06, 414 S.E.2d at 799-800. According to the facts stated in the Mangiaracina opinion, Shipyard Plantation was

---

<sup>24</sup> For example, see R. p. 1330, lines 3-13.

developed from 1970 to 1983. Id. at 305, 414 S.E.2d at 799. Rather than recording a single declaration of restrictive covenants applicable the entirety of Shipyard Plantation, the developer filed separate documents for each residential area at or near the time each area was developed. Id. A total of thirty-two (32) sets of restrictive covenants were filed and were generally uniform, except for the assessments to be paid by the property owners. Id. Five (5) of the sets of restrictive covenants provided for fixed assessments, and the other twenty-seven (27) sets provided for variable assessments. Id. Ultimately, this resulted in 1,248 dwelling units paying variable rate assessments and 230 dwelling units paying fixed rate assessments. Id. The court in Mangiaracina noted that the five (5) sets of restrictive covenants containing the fixed rate assessments were executed between December 1970 and February 1977, and during that time period, a total of six (6) sets of restrictive covenants containing variable rate assessments were also executed. Id., 414 S.E.2d at 799-800. In support of its request, the property owners association in part relied upon a theory of reciprocal negative easements to impose the variable assessment covenants uniformly throughout the Shipyard Plantation development. Id. at 306, 414 S.E.2d at 800. The court recited the four elements of reciprocal negative easements,<sup>25</sup> and the court’s analysis focused on the element of whether there was a general plan or scheme of restrictions. Id. at 308-10, 414 S.E.2d at 801-02. In its analysis, the court noted that to establish negative reciprocal easements, “[g]enerally, the developer must establish the general scheme of development before any lots are sold”, and the court further found as follows:

Here, we think it important to examine the record for evidence whether at the time the last fixed assessment covenant was recorded there was in place a general scheme of covenants burdening the properties in the PUD with variable assessments. This is important because reciprocal negative easements are never

---

<sup>25</sup> The four elements are as follows: “(1) a common grantor, (2) a designation of land subject to restrictions, (3) a general plan or scheme of restrictions, and (4) covenants running with the land in accordance with such plan or scheme.” Mangiaracina, 307 S.C. at 309, 414 S.E.2d at 801-02.

retroactive. *Sanborn v. McLean*, 233 Mich. 227, 206 N.W. 496 (1925). As noted above, during the development period of December 1970 through February 1977, five of the restrictions and covenants provided for fixed assessments and six provided for variable assessments. In fact, the first three restrictions and covenants provided for fixed assessments. Such covenants indicate no plain and unmistakable implication that during such period the developer intended to burden the land with variable assessments or intended to reserve the right to modify the fixed assessments. *Reyner*, 289 S.C. 575, 347 S.E.2d 878. We hold Shipyard has not shown a right to imposition of reciprocal negative easements which would provide for variable assessments throughout the PUD.

Id. at 309–10, 414 S.E.2d at 802.

First, Mangiaracina is readily distinguishable from the case at hand because in the case at hand, there is only a single declaration of restrictive covenants applicable to the entirety of Chandelle subdivision, and there is no attempt to use other restrictive covenants to try to modify the Declaration through a theory of reciprocal negative easements.<sup>26</sup> Likewise, in the case at hand, the assessment provisions were contained in the Declaration when originally recorded in 1997, and the assessment provisions have remained unchanged since that time.<sup>27</sup>

Second, while the court in Mangiaracina did acknowledge that reciprocal negative easements are never retroactive, this does not mean that reciprocal negative easements only exist and only become effective as of the date of a court order confirming or declaring their existence. Instead, the principle that reciprocal negative easements are never retroactive is simply an acknowledgment that the general scheme of development must exist at the outset of the development, and that later events occurring after the property has been subdivided and sold cannot be used to retroactively establish a common scheme of development that did not exist at the outset of development. This conclusion is supported by a reading of the case of Sanborn v. McLean, which is the Michigan Supreme Court decision cited by the court in Mangiaracina for

---

<sup>26</sup> See (R. pp. 363-396, 559, 564-645, 24-44)

<sup>27</sup> See (R. pp. 559, 564-645).

the principle that reciprocal negative easements are never retroactive. See Sanborn v. McLean, 206 N.W. 496 (1925). In Sandborn, the Michigan Supreme Court stated in part:

If the owner of two or more lots, so situated as to bear the relation, sells one with restrictions of benefit to the land retained, the servitude becomes mutual, and, during the period of restraint, the owner of the lot or lots retained can do nothing forbidden to the owner of the lot sold. For want of a better descriptive term this is styled a reciprocal negative easement. It runs with the land sold by virtue of express fastening and abides with the land retained until loosened by expiration of its period of service or by events working its destruction. It is not personal to owners, but operative upon use of the land by any owner having actual or constructive notice thereof. It is an easement passing its benefits and carrying its obligations to all purchasers of land, subject to its affirmative or negative mandates. It originates for mutual benefit and exists with vigor sufficient to work its ends. It must start with a common owner. Reciprocal negative easements are never retroactive; the very nature of their origin forbids. They arise, if at all, out of a benefit accorded land retained, by restrictions upon neighboring land sold by a common owner. Such a scheme of restriction must start with a common owner; it cannot arise and fasten upon one lot by reason of other lot owners conforming to a general plan. If a reciprocal negative easement attached to defendants' lot, it was fastened thereto while in the hands of the common owner of it and neighboring lots by way of sale of other lots with restrictions beneficial at that time to it.

Id. at 497. Further, other authorities are also in accord with the aforesaid conclusion. See, Phillips v. Hatfield, 624 S.W.3d 464, 474-81 (Tenn. 2021). To find that reciprocal negative easements do not arise or become effective until a court's order declaring their existence is contrary to the elements and purposes of the doctrine of reciprocal negative easements, and it would completely eviscerate the doctrine, as reciprocal negative easements are placed on the land by operation of law when the common plan or scheme of development and restrictions is put into operation. See, Gambrell v. Schriver, 312 S.C. 354, 358, 440 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 1994) ("In the various grants of the lots, there must have been included some restriction for the benefit of the land retained, evidencing a scheme or intent that the entire tract shall be similarly treated, *so that once the plan has been effectively put into operation, the burden placed upon the*

*land conveyed is by operation of law reciprocally placed upon the land retained.”*) (emphasis added).

In the present case, Appellants have conceded that the Subject Lots are bound by the Declaration (at least as originally recorded) via the doctrine of reciprocal negative easements.<sup>28</sup> By conceding this, Appellants have effectively conceded the essential elements of reciprocal negative easements, which means that they have conceded that the common scheme of development and restrictions existed at the outset of development. Further, there is no dispute and no question of material fact that Appellants took title to their properties after the Declaration was recorded and after the common scheme of development and restrictions was put into operation, nor is there any dispute or question of material fact that the assessments in question were levied after such time.<sup>29</sup> Therefore, based on the foregoing, the trial court did not err and did not “retroactively” apply reciprocal negative easements.

Based on all of the foregoing, the trial court’s ruling should be affirmed.

### III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT FOR THE AMOUNT OF ASSESSMENTS OWED BY APPELLANTS DESPITE THE PRESENCE OF COUNTERCLAIMS ASSERTED BY APPELLANTS

Appellants seem to assert that they had a right to have their legal counterclaims tried first; therefore, they assert that trial court committed error in granting summary judgment to Respondent for the amount of assessments owed by Appellants. Respondent asserts that the trial court did not err and that the trial court’s order should be affirmed for the reasons set forth below.

---

<sup>28</sup> (R. pp. 338-339, 1302-1303; R. p. 1308, line 21-p. 1309, line 15; R. p. 1316, line 22-p. 1317, line 1; R. p. 1319, lines 9-11; R. p. 1320, lines 18-23). See also Appellants brief wherein it is stated: “At the beginning of the hearing, Appellants conceded that they would most likely be brought into the subdivision under the reciprocal negative easement theory....”

<sup>29</sup> (R. pp. 363-398, 401-1221, 1454-1464, 24-46).

First and foremost, Appellants never raised this issue to the trial court, and therefore it is not preserved for review.<sup>30</sup> Instead, Appellants have raised this issue for the first time on appeal.

In order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23–24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–780 (2004). Error preservation principles are intended to enable the trial court to rule after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct.App.2004). The rationale for the rule is that until the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error. *Id.* Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.

Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime, 368 S.C. at 372–73, 628 S.E.2d at 919. See also, Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (“At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The issue preservation requirement “prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Because this issue has not been preserved for review, it is procedurally barred and thus should not be considered. Consequently, the trial court’s ruling should be affirmed for failure to preserve this issue for appeal. Therefore, and it is unnecessary to address the merits of Appellant’s arguments on this issue.

---

<sup>30</sup> It was not raised by Appellants in their memoranda submitted to the trial court in connection with the September 13, 2022 hearing. (R. pp. 324-361). Appellants also never raised this issue during oral argument at the hearing. (R. pp. 1308-1377). Further, Appellants never raised this issue in their October 25, 2022, memorandum emailed to Judge Kelly setting forth objections to the proposed order that had been submitted to Judge Kelly. (R. pp. 1301-1305). Additionally, Appellants never served or filed any Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion after the trial court’s order was filed.

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